

## Global position paper

# Kangaroo mother care

A transformative innovation in health care







**Cover image (from the top, clockwise):** ©Safdarjung Hospital/Harish Chellani; ©Kangaroo Foundation, Colombia; ©WHO/PAHO; ©Kangaroo Foundation, Colombia; ©WHO/PAHO; ©Kangaroo Foundation, Colombia; ©WHO/PAHO

# Kangaroo mother care A transformative innovation in health care



Kangaroo mother care: a transformative innovation in health care. Global position paper

ISBN 978-92-4-007265-7 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-007266-4 (print version)

#### © World Health Organization 2023

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

**Suggested citation.** Kangaroo mother care: a transformative innovation in health care. Global position paper. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

**Sales, rights and licensing.** To purchase WHO publications, see https://www.who.int/publications/book-orders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

# Contents

Acknowledgements							
	STA	GE MNCAH&N KMC Working Group	v				
	1						
Abi	Abbreviations vii						
Glo	Glossary vi						
1.	Intr	roduction	1				
	1.1	What is kangaroo mother care (KMC)?	2				
	1.2	Rationale for a global position paper on KMC	3				
		1.2.1 Potential impact	3				
		1.2.2 Need for translating evidence into practice	3				
		1.2.3 Availability of solutions to overcome implementation barriers	4				
	1.3	Purpose of the global position paper on KMC	4				
	1.4	Audience for the global position paper	4				
	1.5	Process of development of the global position paper	5				
2.	Bac	kground	7				
	2.1	Burden and consequences of preterm birth or low birth weight	7				
	2.2	Care of preterm or low-birth-weight infants to improve outcomes	7				
	2.3	1.3 History of the KMC intervention					
	2.4	Global status of KMC implementation	9				
		2.4.1 Global targets	9				
		2.4.2 Country policies	9				
		2.4.3 Implementation status: coverage and quality	10				
3.	Kar	ngaroo mother care: evidence to date	13				
	3.1	Effectiveness of KMC in improving preterm or low-birth-weight infant outcomes	13				
		3.1.1 KMC compared with conventional care	13				
		3.1.2 Immediate KMC	14				
	3.2	Effectiveness of KMC in improving longer-term outcomes (infancy and beyond) of preterm or LBW infants	15				
	3.3	Benefits for mothers	15				
	3.4	Benefits for fathers or partners and families	16				

Kangaroo mother care: A transformative innovation in health care

	3.5	8.5 Parental perspectives and experiences				
	3.6	Benefits of KMC to the infant and the underlying scientific mechanisms	17			
	3.7	Health-system interventions to achieve high population-based coverage of KMC	18			
	3.8	Cost–effectiveness and incremental costs of scaling up KMC	19			
4.	WH	O recommendations on KMC (updated 2022)	21			
5.	<ol> <li>A vision for KMC as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care and a call for action</li> </ol>					
	5.1	Vision	25			
	5.2	Call for action	26			
		5.2.1 National governments/ministries of health and finance	26			
		5.2.2 Professional associations	26			
		5.2.3 Parents, parent organizations and civil society	27			
		5.2.4 Multilateral and bilateral development partners	27			
		5.2.5 Donor organizations	27			
		5.2.6 Academicians	27			
		5.2.7 Private sector	27			
6.	Rea	lizing this vision in maternal and newborn health programmes	29			
	6.1	Achieving global KMC implementation at scale	29			
	6.2	Developing an implementation strategy to achieve global KMC implementation at scale	30			
7.	Cor	nclusion	33			
8.	. References					

# Acknowledgements

WHO extends sincere appreciation to the Kangaroo Mother Care (KMC) Working Group convened by the WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts (STAGE) for Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Nutrition (MNCAH&N), listed below. All the participating organizations endorsed the position paper.

### STAGE MNCAH&N KMC Working Group

**Chairs:** Gary Darmstadt, Prematurity Research Center, Department of Pediatrics, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, California, United States of America; Betty Kirkwood, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM), United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

**Country MNCAH programme managers:** Queen Dube, Ministry of Health, Malawi; Sumita Ghosh, Ministry of Health, India

**Bilateral agencies:** Meena Gandhi, United Kingdom Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (UK-FCDO); Lars Gronseth, Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (NORAD); Aya Hasegawa and Keiko Osaki, Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA); Lily Kak, United States Agency for International Development, USAID

**Donor organizations:** Sufia Askari and Mihretab Salasibew, Children's Investment Fund Foundation (CIFF); Maneesh Batra and Hema Magge, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation; Tore Laerdal, Laerdal Foundation

**Professional associations and nongovernmental organizations:** Nathalie Charpak, Kangaroo Foundation, Colombia; Elizabeth Franklin, International Confederation of Midwives (ICM); Bo Jacobsson, International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO); Janna Patterson, American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP); Roberta Petrucci, Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF) International, Switzerland; Nalini Singhal, International Paediatric Association (IPA); Karen Walker, Councill of International Neonatal Nurses (COINN); Steve Wall, Save the Children

**Parent groups and organizations:** Tasmin Bota (Preemie Connect), South Africa; Viviana Fernandez, Fundación para Padres de Niños Prematuros (FUNDAPREMA), Costa Rica; Silke Mader, European Foundation for the Care of Newborn Infants (EFCNI), Germany

**United Nations organizations:** Kim Dickson, Tedbabe Degefie Hailegebriel and Luwei Pearson (UNICEF); Rajiv Bahl and Shuchita Gupta (WHO; served as the Secretariat for the working group); Mickey Chopra (World Bank)

**Specialized agencies/partnerships:** Teesta Dey, Partnership for Maternal, Newborn and Child Health (PMNCH)

Interna Nigeria Harish neonat Kingdo LSHTM Society

Kangaroo mother care: A transformative innovation in health care

International experts and scientists: Ebunoluwa Adejuyigbe, Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, Nigeria; Zulfiqar Bhutta, Centre for Global Child Health, Canada and Aga Khan University, Pakistan; Harish Chellani, Vardhman Mahavir Medical College and Safdarjung Hospital, India; Nicholas Embleton, neonatal paediatrician, Newcastle Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, United Kingdom; Abiy Seifu Estifanos, School of Public Health of Addis Ababa University, Ethiopia; Joy Lawn, LSHTM; Jan Lucas Ket, paediatrician and past director, Rotary International; Sarmila Mazumder, Society for Applied Studies, India; Peter Waiswa, Makerere University School of Public Health, Uganda; Dilys Walker, University of California, San Francisco, United States; Bjorn Westrup, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

Shuchita Gupta (WHO) led the writing of the document with substantial guidance and input to writing and review from Rajiv Bahl (WHO), Gary Darmstadt and Betty Kirkwood. Linda Vesel (consultant) helped in preparing the first draft.

Members of the WHO STAGE for MNCAH&N provided input and reviewed and approved the final document on their or their organization's behalf. Many other stakeholders who participated in the regular STAGE meetings and Anayda Portela (WHO) also provided valuable inputs on the content.



# Abbreviations

24/7	24 hours a day, seven days a week
CI	confidence interval
ENAP	Every Newborn Action Plan
іКМС	immediate KMC
КМС	kangaroo mother care
LBW	low birth weight
MNCAH&N	maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health and nutrition
STAGE	WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
WHO	World Health Organization

# Glossary

Every Newborn Action Plan (ENAP)	<i>Every Newborn Action Plan</i> (ENAP) is a global framework to end preventable maternal and newborn deaths and stillbirths. The plan sets an action and measurement agenda for integration within national newborn health plans based on the latest epidemiology, evidence, global and country learning. Led by WHO and UNICEF, its preparation was guided by the advice of experts, partners, and the outcome of several multistakeholder consultations. The final plan was endorsed by 194 Member States at the 67th session of the World Health Assembly in May 2014, who committed to put the recommended actions in practice. The WHO Director-General has been requested to monitor progress towards the achievement of the global targets and report periodically to the World Health Assembly until 2030 <i>(1)</i> .			
Health management information system	A health management information system is the system of routine data collection, processing, reporting, analysis and use in health-care facilities and in the community. It provides essential information for national policy-makers, district health managers, facility administrators and health workers across health-system levels, serving as the backbone of national health service delivery programmes <i>(2)</i> .			
Kangaroo mother care (KMC)	The care of preterm or low-birth-weight infants in continuous and prolonged (i.e. 8–24 hours per day, for as many hours as possible) skin-to-skin contact initiated immediately after birth unless the newborn is critically sick, with support for exclusive breastfeeding or breast-milk feeding ( <i>3</i> ). An additional feature of KMC, when initiated in health-care facilities, is timely discharge from the neonatal intensive or special care unit to a lower level of care within the facility or at home, with continued skin-to-skin contact and close monitoring ( <i>4</i> ).			
Low-birth-weight infant	An infant who weighs less than 2500 g at birth, irrespective of gestational age.			
Newborn mortality	Death of a newborn in the first 28 days after birth. Reported as neonatal mortality rate (i.e. newborn deaths in the first 28 days after birth per 1000 live births).			
Preterm infant	An infant who is born before 37 completed weeks of gestation.			
Sick newborn	A newborn who requires medical care.			
Small and/or sick newborn care	The package of facility-based, inpatient care for small and/or sick newborns comprising interventions to deal with complications arising from preterm birth and/or low birth weight, and neonatal infections (sepsis, meningitis, pneumonia and those causing diarrhoea) (5).			

Small and/or sick newborn care (continued)	Level	Type of care provided	Standards of care and evidence-based interventions	
	Primary	Essential newborn care	Immediate newborn care (thorough drying, skin-to-skin contact of the newborn with the mother, delayed cord clamping, hygienic cord care); neonatal resuscitation (for those who need it); early initiation and support for exclusive breastfeeding; routine care (Vitamin K, eye care and vaccinations, weighing and clinical examinations); prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV; assessment, management and referral of bacterial infections, jaundice and diarrhoea, feeding problems, birth defects and other problems; pre-discharge advice on mother and baby care and follow-up.	
	Secondary	Special newborn care	Thermal care; comfort and pain management; kangaroo mother care; assisted feeding for optimal nutrition (cup feeding and nasogastric feeding); safe administration of oxygen; prevention of apnoea; detection and management of neonatal infection; detection and management of hypoglycaemia, jaundice, anaemia and neonatal encephalopathy; seizure management; safe administration of intravenous fluids; detection and referral management of birth defects.	
			Transition to intensive care: continuous positive airway pressure; exchange transfusion; detection and management of necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC); specialized follow-up of infants at high risk (including preterm).	
	Tertiary	Intensive newborn care	Advanced feeding support (e.g. parenteral nutrition); mechanical/ assisted ventilation, including intubation; screening and treatment for retinopathy of prematurity; surfactant treatment; investigation and management of birth defects; paediatric surgery; genetic services.	
Small for gestational age	Infant below the 10th percentile of birth weight for gestational age. A small for gestational age newborn may be preterm or full-term and can have low birth weight or normal birth weight (1).			
WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts (STAGE) for Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Nutrition (MNCAH&N)	An external advisory group of technical experts that provides strategic and technical advice to WHO on matters relating to maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health and nutrition. Its scope includes global priorities and emerging issues for which policies, strategies, recommendations and intervention packages should be developed or updated to help Member States in reaching relevant Sustainable Development Goal targets. The group reports directly to the Director-General of WHO <i>(6)</i> .			

#### **References for glossary**

- 1. Every newborn: an action plan to end preventable deaths. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/127938).
- 2. Every newborn progress report 2019. Geneva: World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF); 2019 (https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/document/every-newborn-progress-report-2019/, accessed 30 November 2022).
- 3. WHO recommendations on interventions to improve preterm birth outcomes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/183037).
- 4. Charpak N, Ruiz-Peláez JG, Figueroa de CZ, Charpak Y. Kangaroo mother versus traditional care for newborn infants ≤2000 grams: a randomized, controlled trial. Pediatrics. 1997;100(4):682–8. doi:10.1542/peds.100.4.682
- 5. Survive and thrive: transforming care for every small and sick newborn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326495)
- 6. Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts (STAGE). Handbook on maternal, newborn, child, adolescent health & nutrition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/mca-documents/stage/stage-mncahn-handbook-final.pdf, accessed 21 April 2023).



# 1. Introduction

Newborn mortality continues to be the leading contributor to deaths of children aged under 5 years (under-fives) globally; it was responsible for almost half (46%) of all under-five deaths in 2019 (1). Preterm birth complications caused approximately 36% of these newborn deaths (1). Countries and settings that have overcome high rates of newborn mortality have done so through investment in a holistic package of clinical services and health-system functions required for essential care of all newborns and special care for small and/or sick newborns, their mothers and families. The provision of these services is necessary but not sufficient to achieve the highest attainable standard of health and well-being for all mothers and newborns. Especially in low- and middle-income countries, but even in high-resource settings, there is often an unacceptable level of newborn mortality, suggesting that the broader determinants of avoidable mortality remain unaddressed (2,3). Gender inequalities are endemic in most settings and are often reflected, reinforced and perpetuated in the ways in which health systems are structured and health services are delivered. In the name of improving efficiency, safety and overt health outcomes, most health systems are designed for the convenience of healthsystem actors and not for the women themselves. There is a growing realization that many health systems and service delivery mechanisms, despite well intentioned designs, have marginalized and disempowered women from participating more actively in their own and their infant's care (4).

Kangaroo mother care (KMC) is an intervention that allows the mother to take a central role in her own and her newborn's care, thereby reversing the shift of power between the mother and the health-care providers or health systems. It humanizes maternal and newborn care by empowering and involving those who care most for the infant, rather than focusing predominantly on technological solutions. Thus, KMC can serve as a starting point for broader health-system redesign and service delivery transformation for maternal and newborn care, and a model of what can be accomplished when relevant stakeholders are empowered to play the roles naturally entrusted to them in the care of their newborns. The concept of KMC is aligned with the primary health care approach for health and wellbeing that empowers individuals, families and communities to take charge of their own health, and should be a critical component of universal health coverage, wherein everyone – including newborns – have access to the health services they need without facing financial hardship. Operationalizing this concept can serve as a strong foundation of highly efficient health systems that are rooted in the communities they serve and focus not only on preventing and treating illness but also on improving well-being and quality of life.

In this global position paper, we present a new vision where mothers, newborns and families form an inseparable centre around which the entire maternal–newborn service delivery is organized, and KMC for all preterm or low-birth-weight (LBW) infants forms the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care. Reversing the long-standing inequities in health care will require prolonged efforts; the scale-up of KMC as an essential service for all mothers and their preterm or LBW infants as a critical component of universal health coverage can serve as the key starting point.



Kangaroo mother care (KMC) is an intervention that enables the mother to take a central role in her own and her newborn's care, thereby ensuring the power stays with the mother, and health workers support and respond to the mother's and newborn's needs.

### 1.1 What is kangaroo mother care (KMC)?

KMC is the care of preterm or LBW infants in continuous and prolonged (8–24 hours per day, for as many hours as possible) skin-to-skin contact recommended to be initiated immediately after birth,<sup>a</sup> with support for exclusive breastfeeding or breast-milk feeding (*5*). An additional feature of KMC, when initiated in health-care facilities, is timely discharge from the neonatal intensive or special care unit to a lower level of care within the facility or at home, with continued skin-to-skin contact and close monitoring (*6*). Placement of the infant in skin-to-skin contact is usually initiated before breastfeeding and is one of the most effective approaches to prepare the mother and the newborn to initiate and continue breastfeeding (*7*). The provision of formula milk should be considered only in exceptional circumstances. Mothers should provide KMC whenever possible and should be empowered to do so while respecting their choice. Additionally, fathers or partners and other family members can also provide KMC and serve as change agents in the care and health of their preterm or LBW infants by ensuring that they receive KMC for as close to 24 hours per day as possible. The involvement of the father or partner and family members is especially important when the mother is medically unstable or recovering from surgery.

KMC should not be confused with routine skin-to-skin contact at birth, which is recommended for all newborns during the first hour after birth to ensure warmth and early initiation of breastfeeding (8). On the other hand, KMC involves providing long-duration, sustained skin-to-skin contact for preterm or LBW newborns, along with support for exclusive breast-milk feeding (breastfeeding or feeding expressed breast-milk through a feeding tube, spoon or cup) (5).



KMC is different from the routine skin-to-skin contact recommended for all newborns in the first hour after birth. KMC refers to skin-to-skin contact that is:

- for preterm or LBW infants, both well and sick
- continuous and prolonged (at least 8 hours per day)
- accompanied by support for exclusive breastfeeding or breast-milk feeding
- closely monitored if the baby is sent home in KMC.



a After initial care at birth for facility births, unless the infant is unable to breathe spontaneously even after resuscitation, is in shock or requires mechanical ventilation; and immediately after birth for home births, unless the infant has any danger signs or requires medical care being below the country cut-off for gestational age or birth weight for admission to a newborn care unit.

### 1.2 Rationale for a global position paper on KMC

#### 1.2.1 Potential impact

KMC for preterm or LBW newborns is a high-impact intervention that significantly reduces the risk of neonatal mortality and morbidity. A 2016 Cochrane review estimated that KMC reduces mortality among LBW infants by 40% at discharge or at 40-41 weeks postmenstrual age (9). Modelling suggests that if facility-based KMC for stable newborns  $\leq 2$  kg were to be implemented universally,<sup>b</sup> it could save 125 680 newborn lives per year (10). Implemented universally as part of small and/or sick newborn care,<sup>c</sup> KMC was estimated to save 747 000 newborn lives per year (11). New evidence is now available on the effectiveness of KMC in reducing newborn mortality. Starting KMC at home (communityinitiated KMC) within 72 hours of birth for LBW infants weighing at least 1.5 kg and without danger signs, irrespective of the place of birth (i.e. home or health-care facility if KMC was not already initiated in the facility), decreases the risk of newborn mortality by 30% (12), and can help increase the coverage of KMC. Additionally, immediate KMC (i.e. starting KMC as soon as possible after birth) for infants with a birth weight between 1.0 and 1.799 kg (i.e. meeting criteria for admission in newborn care unit) irrespective of clinical stability, decreases infant mortality by 25% (13). Since more than half of all infant deaths occur within the first three days after birth (14), starting KMC immediately after birth, irrespective of whether the preterm or LBW infants have achieved clinical stability or not, provides a critical window of opportunity to save these lives. Updated WHO guidelines incorporating this new evidence have thus expanded the scope of KMC. It is now recommended for all preterm or LBW newborns, can be initiated either in the facility or at home, and should be started immediately after birth unless the newborn is critically sick, that is, unable to breathe spontaneously after resuscitation, is in shock or needs mechanical ventilation (5). This increase in the scope of KMC is likely to substantially increase the number of newborn lives saved.

#### 1.2.2 Need for translating evidence into practice

The translation of new evidence into policy and practice requires a paradigm shift in the so-called classical newborn care model, which separates the mother and newborn if the infant is small and/ or sick and requires admission to the newborn care unit. Entry to the newborn care unit is often restricted, and mothers are only allowed inside intermittently, like any other visitor, to provide breast-milk or to breastfeed, for example. If the mother is well, she is often discharged irrespective of her infant's continued need for medical care, and if she requires medical care, she is cared for in a separate ward, with intermittent contact with the infant. The new model requires that all barriers are removed to enable the mother and newborn to remain together from birth, unless either is critically sick. Coordination between maternal and newborn service providers ensures that both mother and infant receive all the care they may need together as a unit in one place. This new model calls for a profound change in the current organization of maternal and newborn service delivery, including infrastructure to keep the mother with her preterm or LBW infant in the newborn care unit, when required. Therefore, it is important to develop guidance and consensuses so that governments, programme managers, and maternal and newborn health-care providers understand what is required or what needs to be done and are ready to implement the changes required to implement KMC in a harmonized way, for maximum global impact.

b 99% coverage across 127 low- and middle-income countries; LiST analysis over 12 months with a baseline of 2019.

c 95% coverage of SSNC level 2 plus continuous positive airway pressure and KMC across 81 Countdown to 2030 countries; LiST analysis with baseline year 2016, endline year 2030.



Keeping mothers and newborns together is essential. They should remain together after birth unless there are exceptional circumstances. This will ensure optimal and respectful care and outcomes for both the mother and the infant.

#### 1.2.3 Availability of solutions to overcome implementation barriers

Achieving high coverage of KMC in programmatic settings has been a persistent challenge, despite a strong, long-standing evidence base for its positive impact on maternal and newborn health outcomes, existing WHO guidelines and multiple organizations promoting KMC. Various implementation bottlenecks have been identified (15–17) and only a few countries have successfully implemented KMC in programmatic settings (18–20). However, new evidence from large-scale implementation research is now available. This provides insights into the effective strategies that may help to scale up KMC (21).

### 1.3 Purpose of the global position paper on KMC

The purpose of this document is to put forward the joint position and vision of an expert, global, multistakeholder working group on implementing KMC for all preterm or LBW infants as the foundation for small and/or sick newborn care within maternal, newborn and child health programmes, and spur collaborative global action. The specific objectives of this paper are to:

- state the position of the global working group on KMC;
- summarize the background information, evidence and rationale for making KMC available to every preterm or LBW newborn;
- present the joint vision of the global working group on implementing KMC for all preterm or LBW
  infants as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care within maternal, newborn and child
  health programmes;
- galvanize the international maternal, newborn and child health community, and the families of preterm infants to come together to support implementation of KMC for all preterm or LBW infants to improve the health and well-being of all these infants, their mothers and families.

## 1.4 Audience for the global position paper

This position paper is intended to be used by policy-makers (i.e. those responsible for national policy, guideline development and budget allocation), development partners, programme managers, health workforce leadership, practising clinicians, civil society leadership (e.g. parent and professional organizations) and researchers/research organizations involved in KMC implementation research.

### 1.5 Process of development of the global position paper

This position paper was prepared by WHO in collaboration with a designated KMC working group, convened by the WHO Strategic and Technical Advisory Group of Experts (STAGE) for Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Nutrition (MNCAH&N). (See Acknowledgements for details of working group composition.)

In accordance with WHO procedures for declarations of interests (DOIs), all external experts acting in their individual capacities were asked to declare in writing any competing interests (whether academic, financial or other) using the standard WHO DOI form. The WHO Secretariat reviewed all DOI forms to determine whether any conflicts of interest existed. For this work, none of the experts had any conflicts of interest that could pose any risk to the document development process or to reduce its credibility.

Independent, renowned global experts were appointed as chairs and WHO served as the Secretariat for the Working Group. Brainstorming sessions and online consultations were organized with all members to develop the first draft, using the existing evidence syntheses available from the systematic reviews commissioned for the WHO Guidelines for the care of preterm or LBW infants (*5*). New systematic reviews were commissioned where required. The chairs and all Working Group members reviewed and provided their feedback on the outline and content of the draft document. Any differences in opinion were discussed among the Working Group members in regular online meetings. Additional meetings were organized with individual members and the Working Group chairs to address specific concerns when required. The aim of the meetings was to reach consensus on the content, including terminology and position statement. The Secretariat collated feedback from all members and finalized the content of the document. Organizational nominees discussed the document within their organizations to provide their organization's views and endorsement. The final adoption of the content of the document was done by consensus, defined as full agreement among all Working Group members.

The position paper was endorsed by all participating organizations and approved by the WHO STAGE for MNCAH&N, which reports directly to the WHO Director-General.





Baby girl Samuelsson, born nine weeks preterm by caesarean section, in immediate skin-to-skin contact with her father, in which she spent the first two hours of her life, Lund-Malmö NIDCAP Center, Stockholm.

# 2. Background

# 2.1 Burden and consequences of preterm birth or low birth weight

LBW infants include some who are born preterm (before 37 completed weeks of gestation) and some who are small for gestational age (< 10th percentile of weight for gestational age). Globally, 20.5 million LBW (14.6% of all births) and 14.8 million preterm births (10.6% of all births) occur each year, with limited reductions in the past 20 years (22,23). More than 90% of LBW births are concentrated in low- and middle-income countries, mainly in South Asia (48%) and sub-Saharan Africa (24%), where the majority of neonatal deaths also occur (1,22). Over 80% of global neonatal deaths are among LBW newborns, of which two thirds are preterm and one third are small for gestational age (22). Preterm infants are seven times more likely to die in the newborn period compared with term infants; small for gestational age infants are two times more likely to die in the newborn period compared with appropriate for gestational age infants, and those born preterm and small for gestational age are 15 times more likely to die in the newborn period compared with those born at term and appropriate for gestational age (24). Additionally, LBW infants are at greater risk of infections and other acute morbidities, growth failure (i.e. stunting, wasting and underweight), short- and longterm neurodevelopmental delays, poor academic performance, and behavioural problems in later life (25-28). Importantly, birth outcomes related to prematurity and small size at birth have major implications for later life-course impairments that, in turn, contribute substantially to the burden of noncommunicable diseases and the loss of human capital (29,30).

# 2.2 Care of preterm or low-birth-weight infants to improve outcomes

Numerous evidence-based interventions exist to improve the survival of preterm or LBW infants. Recently, WHO published updated recommendations for improving the care of preterm or LBW infants (5). The guideline includes updated recommendations on KMC, with KMC now recommended for routine care of all preterm or LBW newborns in health-care facilities as well as at home, to be initiated immediately after birth irrespective of clinical stability, unless the infant is critically sick. The guideline strongly recommends family involvement in routine care of preterm or LBW infants in health-care facilities, feeding with mother's own milk, initiation of enteral feeding as early as possible from the first day after birth, exclusive breastfeeding up to six months of age, continuous positive airway pressure for preterm infants with clinical signs of respiratory distress syndrome, and caffeine for treatment of apnoea in preterm infants. Additionally, WHO has updated the recommendation on use of antenatal corticosteroids for women with a high likelihood of preterm birth from 24 weeks to 34 weeks of gestation (*31*), and use of tocolytics (nifedipine) for acute and maintenance tocolytic therapy for women with a high likelihood of preterm birth (*32*). All these essential interventions should be part of routine care for preterm or LBW newborns along with KMC.

### 2.3 History of the KMC intervention

KMC evidence, policy and implementation have evolved over almost 40 years. KMC was first introduced in the Instituto Materno-Infantil in Santa Fe de Bogotà, Colombia, in 1978, to address the scarcity of incubators, high rates of newborn infections, and parents abandoning infants at the hospital (33). In 1993, the Kangaroo Foundation was established in Colombia to generate evidence for and spread this new practice. The Foundation has since trained more than 80 teams from over 35 lowand middle-income countries in KMC practice (34). KMC was formally introduced at an international conference in 1995, which spurred its implementation by individual champions in selected tertiary health-care facilities (35). In 2003, WHO published a KMC practical quide for health workers (36), which is now being revised to incorporate the new evidence. In 2012, KMC was highlighted as a critical life-saving intervention for preterm infants in the United Nations-led Born too soon report and became a global agenda item with major media attention and policy uptake (37). Subsequently, in 2013, a convening of KMC stakeholders from government, nongovernmental organizations and United Nations organizations released a call to action to accelerate the uptake of KMC and established the KMC Acceleration Partnership. The call to action set an ambitious target of 50% coverage of KMC among preterm newborns by 2020 (20). In 2014, WHO and partners included KMC as a highimpact, cost-effective intervention to improve newborn health and survival in the Every Newborn Action Plan (ENAP) (38). In 2020, the WHO Guideline Development Group recognized KMC as a key recommendation requiring update as part of the new WHO guidelines for the care of preterm or LBW infants. In 2021, WHO STAGE for MNCAH&N recommended the convening of a global working group, bringing together all the key stakeholders to facilitate consensus and buy-in on implementation strategies, so that all governments and partners can act in a harmonized way to maximize the impact of KMC (39). Following this, the KMC Working Group that developed this paper was constituted.



### 2.4 Global status of KMC implementation

#### 2.4.1 Global targets

In 2014, ENAP specified an interim KMC coverage target of over 50% by 2020 and over 75% by 2025 for eligible newborns, as a step towards achieving the goal of universal coverage by 2030 (38). This relates to the recent (2020) ENAP coverage target for small and/or sick newborn care, which stipulates that 80% of districts should have at least one secondary (level-2) inpatient newborn care unit with respiratory support and KMC for preterm or LBW infants by 2025 (40). Additionally, a process indicator was proposed to assess the number of facilities with space for KMC and where at least one health worker had been trained in KMC within the previous two years (41). However, little progress has been made to achieve these targets over the past eight years due to the lack of investment, poor alignment on the specifics of the practice and the denominator of interest, and the constraints in identification of preterm and LBW infants. A recent study, the Every Newborn-Birth Indicators Research Tracking in Hospitals (EN-BIRTH), provides some insights on measuring KMC coverage in routine health information systems. The EN-BIRTH study compared data from routine facility registers and women's survey reports with direct clinical observation as the gold standard to validate facility-based coverage and quality of care (42). For KMC, ward registers and surveys accurately captured admission to care (a service contact measure), yet there were gaps identified in the quality of care, especially related to the duration of and support for infant feeding (43). This shows that register data for infants admitted to KMC wards have the potential for aggregation in routine health information systems to track coverage. Work is currently in progress to define a KMC coverage indicator that can be included and measured as part of routine health information systems to track progress (42). However, more work is required to assess data flow and quality at different levels of health management information systems and measure the quality of KMC provision and experience of care.



By 2025, at least 80% of districts (or equivalent subnational unit) in a country should have at least one level-2 inpatient unit to care for small and/or sick newborns, with respiratory support, including provision of continuous positive airway pressure and KMC.

#### 2.4.2 Country policies

At the national level, having an updated KMC policy or guideline is the main indicator for the ENAP quality-of-care milestone (18). In 2014, the Countdown to 2015 Millennium Development Goals Report (44) documented that 33 of 75 countdown countries (which together accounted for more than 95% of the global burden of maternal, newborn and child deaths) had a national policy recommending KMC for LBW newborns. Since 2014, there has been steady progress in adopting policies for KMC, yet in 2018, only 28 of the 90 ENAP-reporting countries had an updated policy or guideline on KMC (45). While only 12 of the 34 highest-burden countries have a KMC policy in place, 6 of the 10 countries experiencing the greatest reductions in neonatal mortality have put KMC policies in place (45). In countries for which sufficient information was available on large-scale KMC implementation efforts (e.g. Bangladesh, Brazil, Colombia, India, Malawi, the Philippines and South Africa), key policy-related drivers included a positive policy environment, including the adoption of KMC in national or subnational policy and guidelines (19).

#### 2.4.3 Implementation status: coverage and quality

Despite an improvement in the number of countries adopting KMC as part of their national policies, the availability of KMC services is limited to a small number of central or teaching hospitals in all but a handful of countries. In 2015, an analysis of 12 of the 33 Countdown to 2015 countries that reported a national policy/quideline on KMC found that 10 of these 12 countries lacked adequate financing and service delivery strategies to implement and scale up KMC (17). Tracking coverage and quality of KMC has been impeded by the lack of an agreed-upon global indicator, and availability of national data from routine health management information systems. This is a top priority for improving implementation and ensuring equity. Meanwhile, approximate estimates of current coverage and quality of KMC are based on country reporting of policy and roll-out in the ENAP tracking tool now used by more than 90 countries. In 2017, eighteen of the 25 ENAP countries in Asia, Africa and the Middle East that had received support from UNICEF had initiated the implementation of KMC, though little is known about the details of practice (18). By 2018, implementation had progressed, and one fifth of countries (18 of 90; 20%) had an indicator included in their health management information system to monitor the number of newborns who received KMC (44). UNICEF has supported countries with advocacy, generic and KMC-specific training and guidance, and support for establishing KMC services including infrastructure upgrades, supplies and equipment (18). Nonetheless, KMC implementation has been more common at higher-level or referral hospitals than at secondary care level (e.g. district level) or primary care level (e.g. health centre). Hence, data on the coverage of KMC are limited and not comparable across countries (18,45). Many countries that have shown progress in the programmatic implementation of KMC have a KMC indicator included in their health management information systems. However, not all these countries (English- and non-English-speaking alike) have a data dashboard, KMC service monitoring, or reporting as part of small and/or sick newborn care in their health management information systems tracking (39,44,45).



What gets measured, gets done. Countries must include globally agreed indicators for KMC in routine health information systems and track them regularly to improve coverage and quality.







# 3. Kangaroo mother care: evidence to date

#### 3.1 Effectiveness of KMC in improving preterm or low-birthweight infant outcomes

#### 3.1.1 KMC compared with conventional care

The Cochrane systematic review in 2016 showed that KMC initiated in health-care facilities after clinical stabilization of LBW infants compared with conventional care reduces newborn mortality by 40% at discharge or 40 weeks postmenstrual age, and by 33% at the latest follow-up (9). A recent systematic review that includes preterm or LBW infants, and both facility- and community-based studies, suggests that compared with conventional newborn care, KMC is associated with a 32% reduction in mortality by discharge or 40 weeks postmenstrual age, or 28 days of age, and a 25% reduction in mortality by six months of age (46). The magnitude of mortality reduction was similar for infants born  $\leq$  34 weeks of gestation and those born > 34 to 36 weeks of gestation; infants with weight  $\leq$  2 kg and infants with weight > 2 kg but < 2.5 kg at birth or enrolment, and for a daily duration of KMC of 8–16 hours/day and > 16 hours/day (46). KMC was also associated with a 15% reduction in the risk of severe infection/sepsis up to the latest follow-up, a 68% reduction in the risk of hypothermia at discharge or by 28 days after birth, and a 48% increase in exclusive breastfeeding at discharge or 40 weeks postmenstrual age (46).

In low- and middle-income countries, where there is a greater burden of LBW births and neonatal deaths, and where resources are scarce, the impact of KMC on newborn health has been particularly significant (9,46). It has been suggested that the duration of KMC has a direct impact on infant growth, whereby longer duration promotes greater gains in growth (47), but there are not enough data on this. Evidence suggests that the duration of KMC should be dictated by the infant and stopped when the infant is no longer wanting to stay in the same position (i.e. when an infant is restless, crying, sweating or agitated) (36,48).





KMC reduces the risk of mortality by 40 weeks' postmenstrual age or 28 days of age by 32%. The magnitude of mortality reduction is similar for different gestational ages ( $\leq$  34 weeks and > 34 to 36 weeks) and birth-weight categories ( $\leq$  2000 g and > 2000 to < 2500 g) of LBW infants, for facility and community settings and for daily duration of KMC of at least 8 hours per day.

#### 3.1.2 Immediate KMC

The evidence of the effect of initiating KMC as soon as possible after birth without waiting for infants to become stable was unavailable until recently. For example, the Cochrane systematic review in 2016 identified and included only one study that compared early-onset KMC (as soon as possible within the first 24 hours after birth) with late-onset KMC (i.e. KMC started after complete stabilization, generally at least 24 hours after birth) in relatively stable infants (9). This research gap was addressed by a multicounty, randomized controlled trial coordinated by WHO, the Immediate KMC (iKMC) study (13). This trial was conducted in five hospitals in Ghana, India, Malawi, Nigeria and the United Republic of Tanzania, and showed that newborns whose birth weight was between 1.0 and 1.799 kg, regardless of gestational age (all requiring admission to the newborn care unit), who received immediate KMC had 25% lower mortality at 28 days of age, 35% lower incidence of hypothermia up to discharge, and 18% less suspected sepsis. This is in comparison with infants who received KMC later (i.e. KMC initiated after 24 hours of age once the neonate had recovered from preterm birth complications). This means that one newborn death can be prevented by providing immediate KMC to only 27 preterm or LBW infants. The risk of mortality in the first three days after birth was 23% lower among infants receiving immediate KMC, though this was not statistically significant.

The implementation of immediate KMC in this trial was done by ensuring that the mothers and infants were kept together starting immediately after birth and provided with care together as a unit. This was made possible by redesigning the newborn care unit to include a bed for the mother, to enable her to stay with her newborn on a 24/7 basis. Close collaboration was established between obstetrics and newborn care providers to take care of the medical needs of the mother and the infant simultaneously. Additionally, adequate provisions for bathing, using the toilet, clean drinking water and food were made to ensure respectful care for mothers. In this new design of the newborn care unit, preterm or LBW newborns can be cared for 24/7 with their mothers in all facilities with level-2 newborn care and above, while ensuring adequate postnatal care for mothers. In such a unit, the mother is not a mere visitor, rather she has her bed inside the newborn special or intensive care unit and becomes an active caregiver involved in the continuum of child care (49). Design innovations are required to adapt existing newborn units and set up new newborn care units to accommodate the mothers, and many designs and adaptations are possible in different settings. For example, maternal waiting rooms adjacent to the newborn units could be combined into one large room with maternal beds placed beside the radiant warmers/incubators with a central nursing station and attached toilet, bathroom, area for storing expressed breast-milk and sterilizing assisted-feeding equipment (e.g. paladai, cup and spoon), and maternal examination area. Once operationalized, keeping mothers and infants together inside the newborn care unit when infants require special or intensive care may simplify infrastructure and service delivery for the combined care of mothers and newborns, as well as promoting immediate KMC.

A recent systematic review comparing early initiation (within 24 hours of birth) to later initiation of KMC (after 24 hours of age), including the iKMC and three other studies, suggests that immediate KMC is associated with a 23% decrease in neonatal mortality, a 15% decrease in nosocomial sepsis, a 26% decrease in hypothermia at discharge, and a 12% increase in exclusive breastfeeding at discharge (46).



KMC should be started immediately after birth for all preterm or LBW infants, unless critically ill. Mothers, parents and families should be supported to participate actively in the routine care of their infants while in the facility (5).

# 3.2 Effectiveness of KMC in improving longer-term outcomes (infancy and beyond) of preterm or LBW infants

KMC is associated with improved cognitive and motor development and functioning, particularly among infants at increased risk of neurological deficits soon after birth, and enhanced longer-term social and behavioural outcomes (50–52). Charpak and colleagues followed up LBW infants (< 1.8 kg), who were enrolled in a randomized controlled trial in Colombia 20 years later, and found that those who received KMC had less severe abnormal neurologic results, improved academic performance, a calmer and more rational demeanour, less of a tendency to be antisocial, and reduced school drop out than those who did not (50,51). Most recently, the same team found that preterm infants who received KMC after birth had improved brain maturation (e.g. intelligence, attention, memory and coordination) compared with those who received incubator care; a longer duration of KMC strengthened this association (52).

### 3.3 Benefits for mothers

In addition to its short- and long-term health benefits for preterm or LBW infants, KMC's unique value is that it also has physical and mental health benefits for mothers. KMC facilitates respectful maternity care and empowers new mothers as primary care providers (*53,54*). KMC is instrumental in building mothers' confidence and comfort in caring for their infants, and enhances mothers' satisfaction with the method of infant care and strengthens maternal–newborn attachment (*9*). Mothers practising KMC have a 24% lower risk of moderate to severe depressive symptoms, likely driven by their empowerment as a central caregiver and the physiological properties of increased maternal–newborn attachment/bonding (*55*).

Furthermore, skin-to-skin contact immediately after birth has documented benefits for reducing the duration of the third stage of labour (56) and postpartum haemorrhage (57,58). Postpartum maternal mental health is a contributor to the global burden of disease and has negative consequences on the mother herself, her infant and her family (59). KMC, delivered as part of essential postnatal care for every small newborn, has the potential to improve the mental and physical health of the mother.

### 3.4 Benefits for fathers or partners and families



The involvement of fathers or partners and families is important to support mothers in providing KMC while in the facility and at home after discharge. Father and family involvement is especially important when the mother is medically unstable or recovering from surgery.

Fathers and partners want to be encouraged and supported in providing routine care of their infant, including KMC (60). Fathers, partners and other family members who take on an active role in the care of preterm or LBW infants draw numerous benefits from KMC. KMC empowers caregivers to be directly involved in protecting and nurturing their infant; this has a long-term impact on family structure and the home environment in which the child is raised (9,61). In addition, fathers or partners and other family members who provide KMC experience increased bonding and attachment with their infant, empathy for the newborn, increased confidence as a caregiver, and enhanced mental health and wellbeing (61,62). KMC has also been found to reduce paternal depression and relationship problems, and improve father/partner–infant interactions (55,61,62).



### 3.5 Parental perspectives and experiences

A recent systematic review found that parents want to be actively involved in the care of their infants, and view KMC as both an opportunity to deliver care and as an opportunity for parenting *(60)*. However, while KMC is a restorative experience for parents within a supportive environment, it is an exhausting one if the environment was an obstacle, for example, due to lack of privacy *(63)*. Important drivers of family perceptions, practices, attitudes and values surrounding KMC include caregiver knowledge of its benefits; support available from health workers, families and communities; competing responsibilities at home or work; fear of impacting the infant's health; and the mother's medical condition *(64,65)*. Parent or family counselling, support from health workers, family and society; unrestricted parental visitation hours at health-care facilities; the existence of a private, quiet space to provide KMC; improved maternity leave policies and accommodation in hospital with adequate care will all facilitate KMC provision by parents and other caregivers *(64–66)*.



# 3.6 Benefits of KMC to the infant and the underlying scientific mechanisms

Several scientific mechanisms explain the myriad benefits seen with KMC. Immediate, continuous and prolonged skin-to-skin contact and breastfeeding stimulate oxytocin secretion, leading to increased breast-milk production and exclusive breastfeeding, which reduces hypoglycaemia and improves growth. KMC enhances infant immune function through the transfer of protective microbiota from the mother's skin and the immunoregulatory effects of oxytocin release (e.g. development of T-cells and suppression of inflammatory cytokines). Skin-to-skin contact immediately after birth achieves stress regulation through decreased cortisol levels and oxytocin release. It also promotes heart rate stabilization, arousal regulation, and higher and more rapid weight gain mediated through increased vagal tone that modulates heart rate and the gut–brain axis. Oxytocin release also enhances maternal–newborn interactions and strengthens bonds, which could augment the development of social behaviour and secure attachment. KMC may also aid somatosensory system maturation and functional connectivity, leading to improved sensory processing and cognitive function. Early skin-to-skin contact also activates mesocorticolimbic dopamine and endogenous opioid systems that promote the development of neural circuits involved in social cognitive processes (*67,68*).

Besides the neuroendocrine mechanisms, KMC decreases infant handling by multiple health workers thus reducing the risk of infections and results in overall better quality of care for the infant under close supervision of the mother and health workers.

### 3.7 Health-system interventions to achieve high populationbased coverage of KMC

Bergman and colleagues synthesized evidence on health-system interventions, strategies and approaches for KMC implementation that achieve high KMC coverage in preterm or LBW infants (69). They found that studies that implemented high-intensity interventions across multiple health-system building blocks achieved greater increases in KMC coverage. The types of interventions implemented by studies that achieved a large increase in KMC coverage were as follows.

- Leadership and governance/policy
  - High-level leadership engagement (national/provincial/district policy-makers and programme managers and facility leadership including paediatric/neonatal and obstetric staff).
  - KMC supportive policies (remove systemic barriers for mothers to be with their infants, licensing standards for health-care facilities, pre-service education of doctors and nurses, additional days of parental leave from work and additional financial payments for preterm birth).
- Health workforce
  - Adequate nursing staff with strengthened competency and motivation to support KMC.
  - Engagement of professional organizations, KMC champions and maternal-neonatal staff collaboration.
- Health financing
  - Including costs of establishing maternal-newborn care units and KMC wards, human resources, and running costs in national plans and budgets.
  - Expanded health insurance for small infants.
- Service delivery
  - Maternal-newborn care units and KMC wards with a conducive environment (infrastructure, support and counselling; culturally appropriate food and drinks; and toilet/bathing facilities), with support for immediate KMC in the labour rooms and operation theatres.
  - Support for continued KMC at home after discharge, including monitoring of the infant through home visits.
  - Community engagement to promote KMC.
  - Early identification and facilitated referral of LBW infants.
- Health management information systems
  - Recording KMC (clinical registers) using KMC-specific indicators in routine data systems.
- Supplies
  - KMC beds, chairs and garments.

It was also noted that addressing the health workforce and service delivery building blocks alone was not sufficient to reach high coverage. Addressing the domains of leadership and governance, health financing and information systems is critical for scaling up.



High-intensity interventions across multiple health-system building blocks are required for equitably scaling up KMC with skin-to-skin contact for at least 8 hours per day integrated into small and/or sick newborn care.

### 3.8 Cost-effectiveness and incremental costs of scaling up KMC

KMC is more effective than conventional care in improving newborn outcomes, and the cost of providing KMC in a health-care facility is lower than the cost of conventional newborn care. Hence, KMC is more cost-effective than conventional newborn care. Cost estimates for facility-based KMC are available from countries including Brazil, Colombia, India, the Islamic Republic of Iran and Nicaragua. While these are variable owing to different methodologies, all the studies consistently report lower costs with KMC compared with conventional care (70–75). The incremental cost–utility ratio of facility-based KMC including follow up till one year of age has been estimated to be US\$ 1546 lower per extra quality-adjusted life year gained, which means that KMC is less costly and more effective compared with conventional care (70).

However, from the perspective of global scale-up, it is important to know the costs of scaling up KMC to achieve high population or district-level coverage to allow countries to plan for programmatic implementation. The WHO KMC Scale-Up Study Group (*76*) estimated the incremental cost of scaling up KMC (i.e. cost of KMC over and above the other components of small and/or sick newborn care) for every live newborn who was eligible for KMC in the study population. The total incremental costs of scaling up KMC were US\$ 59 in Ethiopian sites and US\$ 72 in Indian sites per eligible newborn in the population. Most of these costs were recurrent; the annualized start-up costs per eligible newborn were 12–25% of total costs in Ethiopia and 9–16% in India. The major cost driver was human resources, followed by initial and recurrent training, supplies and communication costs. Incremental infrastructure costs accounted for only 2–6% of total costs in both countries (*76*).

While these costs may be considered affordable to the health system, governments must budget these costs in maternal, newborn and child health programmes to support successful scale-up of KMC. Additionally, the estimates will need to be reassessed in the context of mother–newborn service delivery redesign required to enable the mother and infant to remain together starting from birth. This will include infrastructure costs to accommodate the mother inside the newborn care unit if needed, with provision of appropriate and respectful care for both mother and infant, together as a unit. Though initial investments may be required to operationalize such models of combined and respectful maternal–newborn care, the resulting efficiencies in care, and better quality and outcomes with reduced dependency on high-tech and high-resource systems are likely to be highly cost-effective from the programmatic perspective in the longer run. In settings where neonatal units are being established for the first time, this new design concept should be established from the start.



The costs for successful scale-up of KMC are affordable. Additional costs are required for service delivery redesign to enable combined and respectful maternal-newborn care and immediate KMC. Governments must include these costs in maternal, newborn and child health programme budgets.

Johnson Tolulope, 41, a surrogate KMC-mother providing KMC to her sister's preterm baby in the combined maternal-newborn care unit, Obafemi Awolowo University Teaching Hospital, Ile-ife, Nigeria.

# 4. WHO recommendations on KMC (updated 2022)

#### Recommendation A1a: Any KMC (5)

KMC is recommended as routine care for all preterm or LBW infants. KMC can be initiated in the health-care facility or at home and should be given for 8–24 hours per day (as many hours as possible).

(Strong recommendation based on high-certainty evidence of a reduction in mortality, moderate-certainty evidence of a reduction in infections and hypothermia, and low-certainty evidence of improvement in weight gain.)

#### Remarks

- KMC can be given at home or at the health-care facility.
- Infants who receive KMC should be secured firmly to the mother's chest with a binder that ensures a patent airway.
- Whenever possible, the mother should provide KMC. If the mother is not available, fathers or partners and other family members can also provide KMC.
- Infants who need intensive care should be managed in special units, where mothers, fathers, partners and other family members can be with their preterm or LBW infants 24 hours a day.

#### Recommendation A.1b: Immediate KMC (5)

KMC for preterm or low-birth-weight infants should be started as soon as possible after birth.

(Strong recommendation based on high-certainty evidence of a reduction in mortality and hypothermia, and low-certainty evidence of a reduction in infections and improvement in weight gain.)

#### Remarks

- At home, immediate KMC should be given to infants who have no danger signs.
- At health-care facilities, immediate KMC can be initiated before the infant is clinically stable unless the infant is unable to breathe spontaneously after resuscitation, is in shock, or requires mechanical ventilation. The infant's clinical condition (including heart rate, breathing, colour, temperature and oxygen saturation, where possible) must be monitored.

In addition to the publication of the revised WHO KMC recommendations that advocate for the earlier and expanded provision of KMC, the new WHO recommendations on family-centred care (e.g. family involvement and family support in preterm or LBW infant care) (5) now provide a fundamental platform for introducing KMC and a starting point to drive and enhance its implementation. KMC scale-up will not be possible without redesigning service delivery to focus on care for mothers and newborns together as a unit in one place with support from fathers or partners and families.



All nations should explore how to convert or adapt, where possible, the existing newborn units to allow the mother to stay with her infant on a 24/7 basis even when her infant is sick and needs care inside the newborn care unit. Countries establishing new newborn care units should plan for combined and respectful medical and supportive care for all mothers and their preterm or LBW infants from the start.



A Colombian couple from the Pacific region. Pedro works as a night watchman in a building where they live, which allows him to help his wife Valentina permanently by carrying his babies in KMC. Hospital la Quintinie, Douala, Cameroon.




## A vision for KMC as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care and a call for action

### 5.1 Vision

The vision for the care of small and/or sick newborns and their mothers is that they are kept and cared for together from birth, and barriers preventing their proximity are removed at all levels of care in health-care facilities and in communities. Immediate KMC after birth will be the standard of care, along with other life-saving interventions, for all mothers and their preterm or LBW infants in low-, middle- and high-income settings alike, so all mothers and their infants across all countries can survive and thrive.



The new vision for maternal-newborn care envisages a service delivery model where mothers, newborns, parents and families form an inseparable centre around which the entire maternalnewborn service delivery is organized, with close collaboration between health-care providers.



A father provides kangaroo care for his premature baby at Setthathirath Hospital, Vientiane, Lao People's Democratic Republic.

### 5.2 Call for action

This position paper calls on the following actors to take the indicated steps to achieve the vision outlined above.

#### 5.2.1 National governments/ministries of health and finance

- Recognize and commit to scaling up KMC as the standard of care for all mothers and their preterm or LBW infants at all levels of facility care and in communities.
- Include KMC as part of national policies, guidelines and budgets for small and/or sick newborn care within broader maternal, newborn and child health programming. The costs of implementing KMC as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care, should be integrated into national plans for universal health coverage.
- Prioritize small and/or sick newborn care with KMC as the foundation through regulatory and legislative reforms (e.g. policies on zero fees for services and extended parental leave and entitlements for preterm or LBW infants), financing (e.g. expanded health insurance for preterm or LBW infants), and promotion of private sector engagement in the scale-up effort.
- Establish a small and/or sick newborn care unit in every district with a conducive environment for family-centred care and KMC at its core by redesigning or adapting the health-care facility infrastructure to enable mother and newborn to remain together from birth and receive the care they need together as a unit in one place.
- Include KMC indicators in routine health management information systems, Demographic Health Surveillance and/or Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys to monitor coverage and quality on an ongoing basis to inform corrective actions.



### 5.2.2 Professional associations

- Lead by example through demonstration of change in practice.
- Accept, endorse and implement a policy whereby all barriers are removed and mothers and newborns are enabled to remain together from birth, even when newborns are small and/or sick, and they are cared for together as a unit. Provide KMC as the standard of care for all preterm or LBW newborns and their mothers in both public and private sectors.



- Establish and sustain close inter-disciplinary collaboration between maternal and newborn or paediatric care organizations. Develop joint guidance and protocols for combined maternal-newborn care, organize joint learning and training sessions for health workers, and engage in regular knowledge-sharing, cross-learning and advocacy efforts.
- Develop the capacity and sustain the motivation and momentum of the health workforce through evidence sharing, continuous medical education, training and advocacy.
- Encourage health workers to follow all preterm or LBW infants for at least the first year after birth and ensure adequate follow-up care for improved growth and development, and reduced infant mortality and morbidity.

#### 5.2.3 Parents, parent organizations and civil society

- Educate families and communities to recognize and value KMC as a basic patient right, and to demand that mother and infant are enabled to remain together from birth and receive the care they need together in one place at all times.
- Encourage fathers or partners and families to empower and support mothers in providing KMC inside the health-care facility and at home after discharge.
- Actively engage with the various health system actors to emphasize the importance of family involvement and support in the routine care of preterm or LBW infants in health-care facilities, and provide constructive feedback for quality improvement.
- Help abolish cultural myths and misconceptions around preterm birth and KMC.



#### 5.2.4 Multilateral and bilateral development partners

• Partner with national governments in their efforts to implement and scale up KMC as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care by providing technical and financial assistance (e.g. loans, grants or credits) and promoting foreign and private sector investments.

### 5.2.5 Donor organizations

- Provide funding for implementation research to develop context-specific models wherein mothers and newborns can remain together starting from birth and can receive the care they need together as a unit in one place.
- Support integrated maternal-newborn care at the national level and the establishment of new or enhanced special or intensive care units for combined maternal-newborn care.

#### 🚡 5.2.6 Academicians

- Promote continued learning through research and documentation of experiences with KMC implementation.
- Evaluate economic and societal perspectives and reinforce that mothers and their newborns remain together after birth and receive combined care in one place with KMC as a standard of care in health worker training (i.e. pre-service and in-service training for maternal, peripartum and newborn care) and provision of small and/or sick newborn care.



#### 5.2.7 Private sector

- Acknowledge and practice keeping the mother and newborn together after birth with combined care in one place, and KMC as the standard of care.
- Create awareness of the benefits of KMC among parents and families to help them see it as an integral aspect of the provision of high-quality newborn care.



## Realizing this vision in maternal and newborn health programmes

### 6.1 Achieving global KMC implementation at scale

Achieving global KMC implementation at scale requires a commitment from high-level political and programme leadership to keep mothers and their newborns together after birth and provide them with combined care as a unit in one place using KMC as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care. It requires a paradigm shift in maternal and newborn care, with policy change at national and subnational levels, ensuring a dedicated budget for implementing KMC as part of small and/or sick newborn care scale-up, redesigning maternal-newborn service delivery systems, monitoring the practice of keeping and caring for the the mother and newborn together after birth in one place and including KMC coverage and quality indicators in routine health information systems.

United Nations organizations and other key stakeholders in MNCAH should start a global advocacy movement targeting national political and programmatic leadership. It should include written appeals to Heads of States and Governments, presenting a strong, data-informed investment case, followed by committed engagement with the ministries of health and finance by the regional and country offices to encourage the governments to scale up KMC as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care. Resources can be mobilized through the creation of memoranda of understanding between national governments, partners and donors; advocating for the inclusion of a costed plan for reorganization of maternal-newborn service delivery with special focus on level 2 small and/or sick newborn care with continuous positive airway pressure and KMC in national health budgets; and combining global and private sector investments to support local implementation efforts. The mutual benefits of KMC for mothers and infants should be emphasized to bring together the maternal and newborn health communities to foster capacity-building, implementation and advocacy. High-burden settings, particularly those with disrupted or weak health systems, including those with humanitarian crises, may require increased investments to accelerate progress on learning and best practices for implementing KMC, as known challenges and barriers may be exacerbated in these settings, and new issues may emerge or apply. While partners operating in these settings have rightly identified KMC as a high-impact practice, further prioritization is needed to strengthen operationalization and reach the most underserved.

Finally, a monitoring and evaluation framework should be developed outlining indicators for inputs, coverage, quality and impact for routine monitoring. The indicators should then be tested and refined to measure and evaluate KMC implementation and quality at subnational, national and international levels. Countries should incorporate these indicators into routine health management information systems, or Demographic Health Surveys or Multiple Indicator Cluster Surveys. Data on coverage and quality of KMC should be collated as part of small and/or sick newborn care and ENAP target tracking, and used to improve reach and equity, to optimize impact.



KMC should be implemented in national maternal, newborn and child health programmes as the foundation of small and/ or sick newborn care alongside all essential evidence-based interventions for preterm or low-birth-weight infants.

# 6.2 Developing an implementation strategy to achieve global KMC implementation at scale

Keeping the mother and infant together is a recommendation for health-system actors, with the aim of changing the norms of care from separation of infants from parents, to one where health-care delivery systems are reorganized so that mothers' and their infants' needs are addressed together. This recommendation is based on the evidence of what is best for these infants, and also respects the rights of women and their newborns. As part of this, health workers need to listen to and engage with mothers and families, and develop a plan that enables continuous KMC while always respecting the autonomy of women and recognizing that care must always be customized to the needs of an individual patient. KMC should be implemented as an integral component of small and/or sick newborn care rather than as a stand-alone programme. This is important to ensure that preterm or LBW infants receive all the essential interventions alongside KMC as part of a holistic package of care to improve their survival and well-being.

However, there is variability among different stakeholders in their understanding of the KMC intervention and how to implement it. The mechanisms through which KMC has been introduced and scaled up in different country settings have also varied, and governments have used different programmatic approaches to KMC implementation. There is variability in service packages and delivery mechanisms, practices, quality of care, and monitoring at different levels of care across countries (77). Therefore, it is important to develop a common understanding and consensus on the implementation strategy to bring the entire MNCAH community onto the same page and help align the implementation efforts towards achieving universal coverage of KMC as the foundation of high-quality small and/or sick newborn care.

The KMC Working Group has developed the global implementation strategy to guide the operationalization of KMC at different levels of facility care and at home, both at national and subnational levels, which is adaptable to diverse country contexts (77). WHO is also updating the KMC practice guide, which was first developed in 2003 to guide health workers in practising KMC (36).



Access to high-quality health care without financial hardship is a human right. KMC, especially immediate KMC, can serve as a strong foundation of highly efficient maternal-newborn service delivery that requires investment but will accelerate progress towards equitable coverage of life-saving care.

Kangaroo mother care: A transformative innovation in health care





# 7. Conclusion

Being able to participate in their own health care and that of their infants is a fundamental human right for all mothers, fathers or partners and families. KMC improves survival, health and development outcomes for preterm or LBW infants, empowers parents to become powerful change agents in the care of their infants, and promotes satisfaction with their own and their infant's care. It requires redesigning and reorganizing maternal–newborn care to keep the mother and newborn together after birth, irrespective of any illness, and to provide them combined care as a unit in one place.

Strong evidence now supports KMC for routine care of all preterm or LBW newborns both in healthcare facilities and at home, immediately after birth, and guides how high population coverage of KMC can be achieved in routine health systems. KMC should be implemented in national maternal, newborn and child health programmes as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care, including all essential evidence-based interventions for the survival and well-being of these infants. With less than eight years left to achieve the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals, urgent dedicated efforts must be undertaken to scale up this life-saving and well-being-promoting intervention, which will contribute significantly to the achievement of this goal.

This position paper calls on the global maternal, newborn and child health community, countries' political and programmatic leadership, and families to support KMC as the foundation of small and/or sick newborn care in all settings.



## 8. References

- 1. Perin J, Mulick A, Yeung D, Villavicencio F, Lopez G, Strong KL et al. Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000-19: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2022;6(2):106–15. doi:10.1016/S2352-4642(21)00311-4.
- 2. Brownell M, Enns J. Reducing child mortality in high-income countries: where to from here? Lancet. 2018 2018;391(10134):1968–9. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(18)30938-3.
- 3. McKinnon B, Harper S, Kaufman JS, Bergevin Y. Socioeconomic inequality in neonatal mortality in countries of low and middle income: a multicountry analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2014;2(3):e165-73. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70008-7.
- 4. Hay K, McDougal L, Percival V, Henry S, Klugman J, Wurie H et al. Disrupting gender norms in health systems: making the case for change. Lancet. 2019;393(10190):2535–49. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30648-8.
- 5. WHO recommendations on interventions to improve preterm birth outcomes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/183037).
- 6. Charpak N, Ruiz-Peláez JG, Figueroa de CZ, Charpak Y. Kangaroo mother versus traditional care for newborn infants ≤2000 grams: a randomized, controlled trial. Pediatrics. 1997;100(4):682–8. doi:10.1542/peds.100.4.682.
- 7. Moore ER, Bergman N, Anderson GC, Medley N. Early skin-to-skin contact for mothers and their healthy newborn infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;11(11):CD003519.
- 8. WHO recommendations: intrapartum care for a positive childbirth experience. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260178).
- 9. Conde-Agudelo A, Díaz-Rossello JL. Kangaroo mother care to reduce morbidity and mortality in low birthweight infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2017(8):CD002771.
- Minckas N, Medvedev MM, Adejuyigbe EA, Brotherton H, Chellani H, Estifanos AS et al. Preterm care during the COVID-19 pandemic: a comparative risk analysis of neonatal deaths averted by kangaroo mother care versus mortality due to SARS-CoV-2 infection. EClinicalMedicine. 2021 Mar;33:100733. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100733.
- 11. Survive and thrive: transforming care for every small and sick newborn. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326495).
- 12. Mazumder S, Taneja S, Dube B, Bhatia K, Ghosh R, Shekhar M et al. Effect of community-initiated kangaroo mother care on survival of infants with low birthweight: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2019;394(10210):1724–36. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32223-8.
- WHO Immediate KMC Study Group, Arya S, Naburi H, Kawaza K, Newton S, Anyabolu CH et al. Immediate "kangaroo mother care" and survival of infants with low birth weight. N Engl J Med. 2021;384(21):2028–38. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa2026486.
- 14. Dol J, Richardson B, Bonet M, Langlois EV, Parker R, Scott H et al. Timing of maternal and neonatal mortality and morbidity in healthy women and newborns during the postnatal period: a systematic review protocol. JBI Evid Synth. 2021;19(3):629–43. doi:10.11124/JBIES-20-00036.
- 15. Chan G, Bergelson I, Smith ER, Skotnes T, Wall S. Barriers and enablers of kangaroo mother care implementation from a health systems perspective: a systematic review. Health Policy Plan. 2017;32(10):1466–75. doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czx098.
- 16. Seidman G, Unnikrishnan S, Kenny E, Myslinski S, Cairns-Smith S, Mulligan B et al. Barriers and enablers of kangaroo mother care practice: a systematic review. PloS One. 2015;10(5):e0125643. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125643.

- 17. Vesel L, Bergh AM, Kerber KJ, Valsangkar B, Mazia G, Moxon SG et al. Kangaroo mother care: a multi-country analysis of health system bottlenecks and potential solutions. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2015;15 Suppl 2(S2):S5. doi:10.1186/1471-2393-15-S2-S5.
- 18. Hailegebriel TD, Bergh AM, Zaka N, Roh JM, Gohar F, Rizwan S et al. Improving the implementation of kangaroo mother care. Bull World Health Organ. 2021;99(1):69–71. doi:10.2471/BLT.20.252361.
- 19. Bergh A-M, Gupta S, Rao S. Programmatic implementation of kangaroo mother care: a systematic synthesis of grey literature. medRxiv 2023.04.05.23288153. doi:10.1101/2023.04.05.
- 20. Torres LM, Mazia G, Guenther T, Valsangkar B, Wall S. Monitoring the implementation and scale-up of a life-saving intervention for preterm and small babies: facility-based kangaroo mother care. J Glob Health. 2021;11(14001):14001. doi:10.7189/joqh.11.14001.
- 21. Mony PK, Tadele H, Gobezayehu AG, Chan GJ, Kumar A, Mazumder S et al. Scaling up kangaroo mother care in Ethiopia and India: a multi-site implementation research study. BMJ Glob Health. 2021;6(9):e005905. doi:10.1136/ bmjgh-2021-005905.
- 22. Blencowe H, Krasevec J, de Onis M, Black RE, An X, Stevens GA et al. National, regional, and worldwide estimates of low birthweight in 2015, with trends from 2000: a systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;7(7):e849–60. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30565-5.
- 23. Chawanpaiboon S, Vogel JP, Moller AB, Lumbiganon P, Petzold M, Hogan D et al. Global, regional, and national estimates of levels of preterm birth in 2014: a systematic review and modelling analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2019;7(1):e37–46. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30451-0.
- 24. Katz J, Lee AC, Kozuki N, Lawn JE, Cousens S, Blencowe H et al. Mortality risk in preterm and small-for-gestationalage infants in low-income and middle-income countries: a pooled country analysis. Lancet. 2013;382(9890):417–25. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(13)60993-9.
- 25. Christian P, Lee SE, Donahue Angel M, Adair LS, Arifeen SE, Ashorn P et al. Risk of childhood undernutrition related to small-for-gestational age and preterm birth in low- and middle-income countries. Int J Epidemiol. 2013;42(5):1340–55. doi:10.1093/ije/dyt109.
- Allotey J, Zamora J, Cheong-See F, Kalidindi M, Arroyo-Manzano D, Asztalos E et al. Cognitive, motor, behavioural and academic performances of children born preterm: a meta-analysis and systematic review involving 64 061 children. BJOG. 2018;125(1):16–25. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.14832.
- 27. Upadhyay RP, Naik G, Choudhary TS, Chowdhury R, Taneja S, Bhandari N et al. Cognitive and motor outcomes in children born low birth weight: a systematic review and meta-analysis of studies from South Asia. BMC Pediatr. 2019;19(1):35. doi:10.1186/s12887-019-1408-8.
- Sacchi C, Marino C, Nosarti C, Vieno A, Visentin S, Simonelli A. Association of intrauterine growth restriction and small for gestational age status with childhood cognitive outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr. 2020;174(8):772–81. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.1097.
- 29. de Mendonça ELSS, de Lima Macêna M, Bueno NB, de Oliveira ACM, Mello CS. Premature birth, low birth weight, small for gestational age and chronic non-communicable diseases in adult life: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Early Hum Dev. 2020;149(105154):105154. doi:10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2020.105154.
- 30. Mericq V, Martinez-Aguayo A, Uauy R, Iñiguez G, Van der Steen M, Hokken-Koelega A. Long-term metabolic risk among children born premature or small for gestational age. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2017;13(1):50–62. doi:10.1038/ nrendo.2016.127.

- 31. WHO recommendations on antenatal corticosteroids for improving preterm birth outcomes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/363131).
- 32. WHO recommendation on tocolytic therapy for improving preterm birth outcomes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/363128).
- 33. Manejo racional del nino prematuro. In: Proceedings of the Conference 1 Curso de Medicina Fetal y Neonatal. Bogota, Colombia: Fundacion Vivar; 1981.
- 34. Charpak N, Ruiz JG. Latin American Clinical Epidemiology Network Series Paper 9: The kangaroo mother care method: from scientific evidence generated in Colombia to worldwide practice. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017;86:125–8. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.05.019.
- 35. Bergh A-M, de Graft-Johnson J, Khadka N, Om'Iniabohs A, Udani R, Pratomo H et al. The three waves in implementation of facility-based kangaroo mother care: a multi-country case study from Asia. BMC Int Health Hum Rights. 2016;16(1):4. doi:10.1186/s12914-016-0080-4.
- 36. Kangaroo mother care: a practical guide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2003 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42587).
- 37. Born too soon: the global action report on preterm birth. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44864).
- 38. Every newborn: an action plan to end preventable deaths. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/127938).
- 39. Report of the third meeting of the WHO strategic and technical advisory group of experts for maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health and nutrition, 27–29 April 2021. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://cdn.who. int/media/docs/default-source/mca-documents/stage/final-report-of-the-third-meeting-of-the-who-strategic-andtechnical-advisory-group-of-experts-for-mncah-nutrition.pdf, accessed 21 April 2023).
- Ending preventable newborn deaths and stillbirths by 2030: moving faster towards high-quality universal health coverage in 2020–2025. Geneva and New York: World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund; 2020 July (https://www.unicef.org/reports/ending-preventable-newborn-deaths-stillbirths-quality-healthcoverage-2020-2025, accessed 30 November 2022).
- Moxon SG, Ruysen H, Kerber KJ, Amouzou A, Fournier S, Grove J et al. Count every newborn; a measurement improvement roadmap for coverage data. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2015;15 Suppl 2(S2):S8. doi:10.1186/1471-2393-15-S2-S8.
- 42. Moran AC, Requejo J. Count every newborn: EN-BIRTH study improving facility-based coverage and quality measurement in routine information systems. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2021;21(Suppl 1):227. doi:10.1186/s12884-020-03427-4.
- 43. Salim N, Shabani J, Peven K, Rahman QSU, Kc A, Shamba D et al. Kangaroo mother care: EN-BIRTH multi-country validation study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2021;21(Suppl 1):231. doi:10.1186/s12884-020-03423-8.
- 44. Countdown to 2015: maternal, newborn & child survival: fulfilling the health agenda for women and children. The 2014 report. New York and Geneva: United Nations Children's Fund and World Health Organization; 2014 (https://data.unicef.org/resources/countdown-to-2015-maternal-newborn-child-survival-fulfilling-the-health-agenda-for-women-and-children-the-2014-report/, accessed 30 November 2022).
- 45. Every newborn progress report 2019. Geneva: World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund; 2019 (https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/document/every-newborn-progress-report-2019/, accessed 30 November 2022).
- 46. Sivanandan S, Sankar MJ. Kangaroo mother care for preterm or low birth weight infants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Global Health. 2023.
- 47. Charpak N, Montealegre-Pomar A, Bohorquez A. Systematic review and meta-analysis suggest that the duration of kangaroo mother care has a direct impact on neonatal growth. Acta Paediatr. 2021;110(1):45–59. doi.org/10.1111/ apa.15489.
- 48. Montealegre-Pomar A, Charpak N. Individual factors determine how long infants born preterm or with a low birth weight need to be kept in the kangaroo position. Acta Paediatr. 2022;111(2):305–6. doi:10.1111/apa.16168.

- 49. Chellani H, Arya S, Mittal P, Bahl R. Mother-newborn care unit (MNCU) experience in India: a paradigm shift in care of small and sick newborns. Indian J Pediatr. 2022;89(5):484–9. doi:10.1007/s12098-022-04145-9
- 50. Charpak N, Tessier R, Ruiz JG, Hernandez JT, Uriza F, Villegas J et al. Twenty-year follow-up of kangaroo mother care versus traditional care. Pediatrics. 2017;139(1):e20162063. doi:10.1542/peds.2016-2063.
- 51. Ropars S, Tessier R, Charpak N, Uriza LF. The long-term effects of the kangaroo mother care intervention on cognitive functioning: results from a longitudinal study. Dev Neuropsychol. 2018;43(1):82–91. doi:10.1080/87565641.2017.1422 507.
- 52. Charpak N, Tessier R, Ruiz JG, Uriza F, Hernandez JT, Cortes D et al. Kangaroo mother care had a protective effect on the volume of brain structures in young adults born preterm. Acta Paediatr. 2022;111(5):1004–14. doi:10.1111/ apa.16265.
- 53. Sacks E. Defining disrespect and abuse of newborns: a review of the evidence and an expanded typology of respectful maternity care. Reprod Health. 2017;14(1). doi:10.1186/s12978-017-0326-1.
- 54. Rao SPN, Minckas N, Medvedev MM, Gathara D, Prashantha YN, Seifu Estifanos A et al. Small and sick newborn care during the COVID-19 pandemic: global survey and thematic analysis of healthcare providers' voices and experiences. BMJ Glob Health. 2021;6(3):e004347. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2020-004347.
- 55. Pathak BG, Sinha B, Sharma N, Mazumder S, Bhandari N. Effect of kangaroo mother care for low-birth-weight and preterm infants on maternal and paternal health: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bull World Health Org. 2023 (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/bulletin/online-first/blt.22.288977.pdf?sfvrsn=2cba99cf\_3).
- 56. Karimi FZ, Heidarian Miri H, Salehian M, Khadivzadeh T, Bakhshi M. The effect of mother-infant skin to skin contact after birth on third stage of labor: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Iran J Public Health. 2019;48(4):612–20. doi:10.18502/ijph.v48i4.982.
- 57. Fouly H. Assess the effectiveness of using kangaroo mother care on reducing postpartum bleeding among laboring women: a randomized control trial. Women Health Care and Issues. 2021;4(6):1–9. doi:10.31579/2642-9756/092.
- 58. Saxton A, Fahy K, Rolfe M, Skinner V, Hastie C. Does skin-to-skin contact and breast feeding at birth affect the rate of primary postpartum haemorrhage: results of a cohort study. Midwifery. 2015;31(11):1110–7. doi:10.1016/j. midw.2015.07.008.
- 59. Maternal mental health and child health and development in low and middle income countries: report of the meeting, Geneva, Switzerland, 30 January 1 February, 2008. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43975).
- 60. Hurt L, Odd D, Mann M, Beetham H, Dorgeat E, Isaac TCW et al. What matters to families about the healthcare of preterm or low birth weight infants: a qualitative evidence synthesis. bioRxiv. 2022. doi:10.1101/2022.06.22.22276770.
- 61. Tessier R, Charpak N, Giron M, Cristo M, de Calume ZF, Ruiz-Peláez JG. Kangaroo mother care, home environment and father involvement in the first year of life: a randomized controlled study. Acta Paediatr. 2009;98(9):1444–50. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01370.x.
- 62. Dong Q, Steen M, Wepa D, Eden A. Exploratory study of fathers providing kangaroo care in a neonatal intensive care unit. J Clin Nurs. 2022. doi:10.1111/jocn.16405.
- 63. Anderzén-Carlsson A, Lamy ZC, Tingvall M, Eriksson M. Parental experiences of providing skin-to-skin care to their newborn infant part 2: a qualitative meta-synthesis. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being. 2014;9(1):24907. doi:10.3402/ ghw.v9.24907.
- 64. Smith ER, Bergelson I, Constantian S, Valsangkar B, Chan GJ. Barriers and enablers of health system adoption of kangaroo mother care: a systematic review of caregiver perspectives. BMC Pediatr. 2017;17(1):35. doi:10.1186/s12887-016-0769-5.
- 65. Lewis TP, Andrews KG, Shenberger E, Betancourt TS, Fink G, Pereira S, McConnell M. Caregiving can be costly: a qualitative study of barriers and facilitators to conducting kangaroo mother care in a US tertiary hospital neonatal intensive care unit. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2019;19(1):227. doi:10.1186/s12884-019-2363-y.
- 66. Mu P-F, Lee M-Y, Chen Y-C, Yang H-C, Yang S-H. Experiences of parents providing kangaroo care to a premature infant: a qualitative systematic review. Nurs Health Sci. 2020;22(2):149–61. doi:10.1111/nhs.12631.

- 67. Carozza S, Leong V. The role of affectionate caregiver touch in early neurodevelopment and parent-infant interactional synchrony. Front Neurosci. 2020;14:613378. doi:10.3389/fnins.2020.613378.
- 68. Moberg KU, Handlin L, Petersson M. Neuroendocrine mechanisms involved in the physiological effects caused by skin-to-skin contact with a particular focus on the oxytocinergic system. Infant Behav Dev. 2020;61(101482):101482. doi:10.1016/j.infbeh.2020.101482.
- 69. Bergman N, Talej M, Rao PN S, Gupta S. Health system intervention packages on improving coverage of kangaroo mother care for preterm or LBW infants: a mixed-methods systematic review. medRxiv [preprint].
- Ruiz JG, Charpak N, Castillo M, Bernal A, Ríos J, Trujillo T et al. Latin American Clinical Epidemiology Network Series
  Paper 4: Economic evaluation of kangaroo mother care: cost utility analysis of results from a randomized controlled trial conducted in Bogotá. J Clin Epidemiol. 2017;86:91–100. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.007.
- 71. Broughton EI, Gomez I, Sanchez N, Vindell C. The cost-savings of implementing kangaroo mother care in Nicaragua. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2013;34(3):176–82.
- 72. Sharma D, Murki S, Oleti TP. Study comparing "kangaroo ward care" with "intermediate intensive care" for improving the growth outcome and cost effectiveness: randomized control trial. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2018;31(22):2986–93. doi:10.1080/14767058.2017.1359832.
- 73. Jannati A, Vahidi R, Bayan H, Ghoddoosi-Nejad J, Gholipour K, Hosseini M. Cost and effectiveness analysis of kangaroo mother care and conventional care method in low birth weight neonates in Tabriz 2010-2011. J Clin Neonatol. 2014;3(3):148. doi:10.4103/2249-4847.140401.
- 74. Lima G, Quintero-Romero S, Cattaneo A. Feasibility, acceptability and cost of kangaroo mother care in Recife, Brazil. Ann Trop Paediatr. 2000;20(1):22–6. doi:10.1080/02724930092020.
- 75. Cattaneo A, Davanzo R, Worku B, Surjono A, Echeverria M, Bedri A et al. Kangaroo mother care for low birthweight infants: a randomized controlled trial in different settings. Acta Paediatr. 1998;87(9):976–85. doi:10.1080/080352598750031653.
- 76. WHO KMC Scale Up Study Group. Incremental costs of scaling up kangaroo mother care: results from implementation research in Ethiopia and India. Acta Paediatr. 2022. doi:10.1111/apa.16490.
- 77. Kangaroo mother care: implementation strategy for scale-up adaptable to different country contexts. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2023.





For more information, please contact:

#### World Health Organization

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

#### Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing

Email: mncah@who.int Website: www.who.int/teams/maternal-newbornchild-adolescent-health-and-ageing/

